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WASHINGTON LEGAL FOUNDATION 
2009 MASSACHUSETTS AVENUE, NW 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20036 
(202) 588-0302 

 
 
 

October 19, 2006 
 

By Facsimile [301-796-9877] 
   and First-Class Mail 
 
Thomas Abrams, RPh, MBA 
Director  
Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
10903 New Hampshire Ave. 
Bldg 22 Rm 1400 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 
 
Re:  ANDA # 75-117 
 Orapred® (prednisolone sodium phosphate oral solution) 
 MACMIS ID # 13850 
 
Dear Mr. Abrams: 
 
On October 11, 2006, the Division of Drug Marketing, Advertising, and Communications 
(DDMAC) sent a warning letter to BioMarin Pharmaceutical Inc. (BioMarin), and by copy 
Alliant Pharmaceuticals, which markets Orapred® (prednisolone sodium phosphate oral solu-
tion) on behalf of BioMarin, alleging that a product website (http://www.orapredsmallpackage. 
com) “misbrands the drug in violation of” 21 U.S.C. §§ 352(a) & (n), 321(n), and 21 C.F.R. 
§§ 202.1(e)(3)(i), (e)(5)(i), (e)(5)(iii), & (e)(6)(i).  For the reasons set forth below, we urge 
DDMAC to withdraw this warning letter.  Further, we request once again that you review your 
policies and procedures—particularly those that relate to internet communications, disclosure of 
risk information, and corrective messaging—to ensure that they provide sufficient room for 
sponsors to disseminate, and health care practitioners and patients to receive, truthful and non-
misleading information about prescription drugs.   
 
Failure to Develop Guidance on Internet Promotions 
 
The materials to which DDMAC is objecting all appear on a product website (http://www. 
orapredsmallpackage.com).  WLF has previously objected to DDMAC’s apparent policy of 
taking action against the internet communications of prescription drug manufacturers.  There are 
no legal or regulatory provisions specifically applicable to internet promotions of prescription 
drugs, and DDMAC has acknowledged the lack of guidance in this area.  See The Tan Sheet, 
June 15, 1998.  Despite promises to issue specific guidance on internet promotions, DDMAC has 
failed to provide any formal guidance about its expectations.  However, DDMAC continues to 
send warning letters to companies alleging that their respective product websites violated the 
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Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetics Act (FDCA).  E.g., Warning Letter to GlaxoSmithKline 
(June 30, 2006) (Zovirax® Ointment 5%); Warning Letter to Bioniche Pharma Group Ltd. (Apr. 
4, 2006) (Sotradecol®); Warning Letter to Actelion Pharmaceuticals US, Inc. (July 20, 2005) 
(Tracleer®). 
 
WLF has previously objected to DDMAC’s failure to develop guidance on internet communi-
cations.  We renew our request for DDMAC to either issue guidance explaining its regulatory 
expectations with respect to internet promotional communications, as required by 21 U.S.C. 
§ 371(h) and 21 C.F.R. § 10.115, or to refrain from imposing such expectations on industry 
through warning and untitled letters in violation of those provisions.  As WLF advised in our 
citizen petition submitted on April 16, 2001 (Docket No. 01P-0187), information presented or 
available on a company web site does not constitute “labeling” as defined by the FDCA, 21 
U.S.C. § 321(m).  It is inappropriate for DDMAC to take action against internet communications 
without first providing guidance to pharmaceutical companies.   
 
Problematic Policy of Requiring Multiple Disclosures of Risk Information 
 
In its letter to BioMarin, DDMAC recognizes that the product website includes a link to the full 
FDA-approved labeling for Orapred®.  DDMAC further acknowledges that the product website 
contains specific risk information in two additional places:  on the “Ordering Information” page 
and on the “NEW INSTITUTIONAL 10-PACKS” page.  Thus, the audience for the website had 
immediate access to all of the risk information for Orapred® and three separate references to the 
risk information.  DDMAC concludes, however, that the link to the full prescribing information 
(PI) and the additional risk information do not “mitigate the misleading omission of risk 
information” from the product website.  DDMAC’s contention that the multiple disclosures of 
risk information is insufficient is without regulatory or legal support. 
 
Although one of FDA’s prescription drug advertising regulations, 21 C.F.R. § 202.1(e)(3), states 
that the statutory “true statement” requirement “applies to the entire advertisement,” this 
regulation is not by itself sufficient to support DDMAC’s allegation—particularly here, where 
the product website at issue does not constitute “advertising” within the meaning of the FDCA.  
As we have previously explained to you, DDMAC’s interpretation of this regulation, under 
which every advertisement would have to include risk information in all of the “creative” parts 
and in the accompanying PI or brief summary, would lead to absurd results and would raise 
substantial First Amendment questions.  DDMAC’s imposition of its interpretation without first 
going through notice-and-comment rulemaking is also inconsistent with FDA’s Good Guidance 
Practice requirements, and with the Administrative Procedure Act.  See 21 U.S.C. § 371(h) 
(requiring public participation and the opportunity for public comment on guidance documents 
that set forth an initial interpretation of a statute or regulation, changes in interpretation or policy 
that are of more than a minor nature, complex scientific issues, or highly controversial issues); 
21 C.F.R. § 10.115(e) (FDA “may not use documents or other means of communication that are 
excluded from the definition of a guidance document to informally communicate new or 
different regulatory expectations to a broad public audience for the first time.”).   
 
Finally, requiring multiple disclosures of risk information on each “creative” webpage is, at least, 
in tension with broader agency initiatives intended to improve comprehension of risk information 
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by focusing on the most important risk information and eliminating indiscriminate lists of risks.  
See CBER & CDER, Guidance for Industry: Brief Summary: Disclosing Risk Information in 
Consumer-Directed Print Advertisements (DRAFT) (Jan. 2004), available at 
http://www.fda.gov/cder/ guidance/5669dft.doc (“In general, FDA believes that exhaustive lists 
of minor risks distract and make it difficult to comprehend and retain information on the more 
important risks”); CBER & CDER, Guidance for Industry: Adverse Reactions Section of 
Labeling for Human Prescription Drug and Biological Products—Content and Format (Jan. 
2006), available at http://www.fda.gov/cder/guidance/5537fnl.htm (“In general, the ADVERSE 
REACTIONS section includes only information that would be useful to health care practitioners 
making treatment decisions and monitoring and advising patients.  Exhaustive lists of every 
reported adverse event, including those that are infrequent and minor . . . should be avoided . . . . 
Such lists are not informative and tend to obscure the more clinically meaningful information”); 
Requirements on Content and Format of Labeling for Human Prescription Drug and Biological 
Products, 71 Fed. Reg. 3,922, 3,935 (Jan. 2006) (“FDA has previously found that labeling that 
includes theoretical hazards not well-grounded in scientific evidence can cause meaningful risk 
information to ‘lose its significance’ . . . Overwarning, just like underwarning, can similarly have 
a negative effect on patient safety and public health . . . Similarly, State-law attempts to impose 
additional warnings can lead to labeling that does not accurately portray a product’s risks, 
thereby potentially discouraging safe and effective use of approved products or encouraging 
inappropriate use and undermining the objectives of the act.”). 
 
WLF has previously objected to DDMAC’s apparent policy of requiring double disclosure—or 
as in this case, more than triple disclosure—of risk information.  We request that DDMAC 
reevaluate its current policy of requiring multiple and redundant disclosures of risk information.  
DDMAC should initiate an appropriate proceeding (e.g., by publishing a draft guidance) and 
provide formal recommendations regarding how to present risk information in a manner that 
accounts for the concerns and issues raised above.  Until such a guidance is finalized, DDMAC 
should not issue warning and untitled letters to pharmaceutical companies that present risk 
information in a more concise manner.    
 
Unsubstantiated Allegations of Misleadingness 
 
DDMAC characterizes several statements on the Orapred® website as “misleading,” including a 
general discussion of asthma triggers and treatment.  DDMAC has provided no evidence that the 
intended audience, or even any individual, was actually misled by the discussion of asthma on 
the Orapred® website.  DDMAC alleges that the website fails to disclose the limitations to 
Orapred®’s indication; however, as discussed above, a link to the full PI is available on the 
website.  
 
DDMAC also objects to statements about the taste of Orapred® and the corresponding benefits, 
and characterizes these statements as misleading.  Again, DDMAC makes these characterizations 
without any evidence demonstrating that these claims are actually misleading to individuals.  
DDMAC requests data from BioMarin to support the taste statements, but nowhere does 
DDMAC indicate its legal authority for requesting such data or indicate which standard would be 
used to determine whether the taste statements are sufficiently supported.  We request that 
DDMAC refrain from issuing warning letters alleging that statements are misleading without 
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providing corroborating evidence that the statements were in fact misleading to individuals other 
than the DDMAC reviewers. 
 
No Authority to Seek Corrective Advertising 
 
DDMAC’s request that BioMarin disseminate “corrective” promotional messages is 
unauthorized by statute, unconstitutional, and imprudent.  As WLF has previously advised you, 
DDMAC’s authority to require corrective advertising is, at best, unclear.  The specific listing of 
enforcement actions appearing in the FDCA conspicuously omits any authority for DDMAC (or 
any other FDA component) to request or require that a firm disseminate “corrective” 
promotional messages to anyone.  21 U.S.C. § 331 et seq.  Moreover, a requirement that a 
company disseminate information—with which it might disagree—about one of its own products 
on behalf of the government presents potentially grave First Amendment issues.  See, e.g., 
International Dairy Foods Ass’n v. Amestoy, 92 F.3d 67 (2d Cir. 1996). 
 
In testimony at DDMAC’s Part 15 hearing on November 2, 2005, and again in WLF’s Citizen 
Petition submitted on August 6, 2006 (Docket No. 06P-0319), I emphasized the need for 
DDMAC to reconsider its apparent policy of always requesting corrective messaging in warning 
letters.  Although WLF has repeatedly presented our views to DDMAC on the inappropriateness 
of invoking this extra-statutory remedy, we have received no response from you and have seen 
no lull in the issuance of warning letters invoking it.  We again request that you address our 
concerns in writing and undertake a systematic review of your use of this remedy to ensure it 
does not exceed your authority and sufficiently respects the First Amendment rights of sponsors 
and their audiences. 
 
Conclusion and Requested Action 
 
For the reasons discussed above, we request that DDMAC immediately withdraw the warning 
letter sent to BioMarin.  We further request that you cease the issuance of warning and untitled 
letters and advisory correspondence that contains allegations the same as or similar to those 
described above.  As stated in our Citizen Petition dated August 7, 2006 (Docket No. 06P-0319), 
we request that you review, in a systematic fashion, all of your policies and procedures to ensure 
that they provide sufficient room for sponsors to disseminate truthful and non-misleading 
information about prescription drugs. 
 
The deficiencies described in this letter do not necessarily constitute an exhaustive list.  It is 
DDMAC’s responsibility to ensure that its actions comply with the First Amendment, and do not 
exceed FDA’s statutory authority. 
 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 

Richard A. Samp 
Chief Counsel 
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cc:  Sheldon Bradshaw (GCF-1) 


